Mount Horeb Middle School



Co-Curricular Handbook 2024–2025

Mount Horeb Middle School Co-Curricular Activities Code of Conduct

Table of Contents

Page Location

Statement of Philosophy2
Definition of Co-Curricular Activities2
Purpose of Handbook2
Non-Discrimination Statement3
General Information3
Categories of Participation6
Co-Curricular Expectations7
Behavior at School Events8
Academic Eligibility10
Use of Alcohol/ Tobacco Products/ Controlled Substances/ Performance
Enhancing Substances11
Appeals Process13
Tips for Parents, Guardians, and Supporters at Students Events14
Parent/Guardian, Student Code of Conduct Pledge form16
Parent/Guardian, Concussion/Sudden Cardiac Arrest form17
Activity Emergency Consent to Treat form19
Co-Curricular Weekly Grade Check Sheet23
Athletic/Activity Travel Permission Request form25

Statement of Philosophy

Age appropriate co-curricular activities are an integral and valuable part of a student's middle school experience. Mount Horeb Middle School is committed to sponsoring a wide variety of opportunities for student participation. The district is committed to supporting the cognitive, social and emotional growth of students through participation in co-curricular activities, including activity specific skills, teamwork, positive social values and behaviors they can transfer to their lives now and in the future. The focus of co-curricular activities at Mount Horeb Middle School is focused on maximizing participation for all students in support of developing the skills outlined above.

All activities in life place expectations upon participants. This handbook details these expectations as they pertain to all co-curricular activities at Mount Horeb Middle School. Participation in activities is a privilege, earned in part by accepting and following the regulations contained in this co-curricular handbook.

The primary enforcement and responsibility of this code rests not only with students, as they should be self-disciplined, but also with their parents/guardians. This policy is enforced all twelve months of the year.

Definition of Co-Curricular Activities

Co-Curricular activities at Mount Horeb Middle School are defined by those activities in which students serve, perform, or compete as representatives of Mount Horeb Middle School. All students who participate in the various activities are required to abide by this co-curricular handbook.

Purpose of Handbook

The purpose of this handbook is to acquaint students and parents/guardians of students in co-curricular programs at Mount Horeb Middle School with the expectations, regulations and procedures of the school district and when applicable, the Wisconsin Association of Interscholastic Athletics (WIAA). It is important that both students and parents/guardians read and understand this handbook before signing the student pledge and the parent/guardian permission section of the handbook.

Non-Discrimination Statement

The Mount Horeb School District is committed to equal educational opportunities for all students in the district.

It is the <u>policy</u> of the Mount Horeb School District, pursuant to s.19.13, WI Stats, and PI 9 that no person, on the basis of sex, race, religion, national origin, ancestry, creed, pregnancy,

marital or parental status, sexual orientation, or physical, mental, emotional, or learning disability, may be denied admission to any school in this District or be denied participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be discriminated against in any curricular, extracurricular, pupil services, recreation, or other program. This policy also prohibits discrimination as defined by Title IX of the Educational Amendments of 1972 (sex) Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (race and national origin), and Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973.

General Information

All Athletic/Activity Eligibility Requirement Forms are available in the following areas:

Eligibility Requirements +	MS Office	MS Website	MS Co-Curricular Handbook
Code of Conduct Form (required for Athletics and Activities)	1	1	✓
Concussion Waiver and Sudden Cardiac Arrest (required only for Athletics)	1	1	✓
Physical Form (required only for Athletics)	1	1	
Alternate Year Form (required only for Athletics)	1	1	
Activity Emergency Consent to Treat Form (required only for Activities)	√	√	✓
Athletic/Activity Travel Request Form	1	1	1

Eligibility Requirements and Travel Form for Athletics

Co-Curricular Code of Conduct

On a yearly basis, students and parents are required to read, sign and submit the Co-Curricular Code of Conduct prior to participating in any co-curricular activity. A copy of the Co-Curricular Code of Conduct form is on page 16 of this handbook.

Concussion Awareness and Sudden Cardiac Arrest Form

Required for athlete and parent/guardian to complete each year.

Prior to the start of a season, both athletes and parents must be provided the Wisconsin Fact Sheet on Concussions and Sudden Cardiac Arrest and sign the agreement form. A copy of the Concussions and Sudden Cardiac Arrest form is on page 17 of this handbook.

Physical Year Card

Emergency information and physician signed page/physical clearance is required every two years.

Alternate Year Card

Emergency contact form is required for a parent/guardian to complete in alternate years of a required physical.

<u>Athletic/Activity Travel Request Form</u>

Required for a parent or guardian to complete **each** time they wish to transport their child. Please see page18 for more information on this form.

Co-Curricular Athletic Participation Fee

Students participating in athletic activities pay a \$25.00 fee for each sport prior to the first day of practice. Families who could benefit from support for these fees should contact the Middle School Social Worker at 437.7175.

Athletic Competition Start Times

Most middle school athletic competitions are scheduled to start at 4:15 pm unless otherwise stated on the schedule. Please check the schedules for competitions can also be found on the middle school's athletic <u>website</u>. Provided by advisors and coaches for information on starting times for all co-curricular activities.

Eligibility Requirements and Travel Form for Activities

Co-Curricular Code of Conduct

On a yearly basis, students and parents are required to read, sign and submit the Co-Curricular Code of Conduct prior to participating in co-curricular events. A copy of the Co-Curricular Code of Conduct form is on page 17 of this handbook.

<u>Activity Emergency Consent to Treat Form</u>

Parents or guardians are required to complete on a yearly basis the Activity Emergency Consent to Treat Form and return to the middle school office. This form allows for emergency medical treatment if necessary. This form can be found on the middle school website under Activities. It is also found on page 19 of this handbook.

Athletic/Activity Travel Permission Request Form

Required for a parent or guardian to complete **each** time they wish to transport their child. Please see page 6 for more information on this form.

Emergency Treatment

In case of an emergency, all responsible attempts to contact the participant's parents/guardians will be made. Participants will be taken to the nearest hospital unless the parents/guardians direct their child to be sent somewhere else.

Equipment

Each student is responsible for the proper care of all issued equipment and for the school and community facilities where they practice/perform. Students and their

parents/guardians will be financially responsible for any lost, misplaced or damaged items and for supplies or property that have been maliciously damaged.

Insurance

Mount Horeb School District provides accident coverage for all students. Only accidents that occur in school sponsored and supervised activities excluding participants in interscholastic sports are covered. A voluntary, parent paid insurance program is available that includes participants in interscholastic sports. If interested, please contact the school office at 437.7306.

Loss or Damage to Property

The district assumes no responsibility for such loss or damage but will assist students and parents/guardians in helping to recover lost or damaged property.

School Closings

When Mount Horeb schools are closed due to inclement weather or other emergencies, all co-curricular activities, practices and contests are canceled or postponed to a later date.

Statement of Risk

With the increased demands of co-curricular activities comes an increased risk of injury. Parents are advised of the possibility that a child may suffer severe injury, including permanent paralysis or even death as a result of participating in co-curricular activities.

- All injuries must be reported to the advisor/coach/supervisor immediately.
- Should an injury be discovered after the student has returned home, the advisor/coach/supervisor should be contacted as soon as possible.
- Parents/Guardians are encouraged to report any special medical problems or medical history to the school office and on the Physical, Alternate Year form, or Emergency Consent to Treat form.
- Middle school athletes have limited access to the athletic trainer stationed at the high school.

Travel to Events

Each student must ride and return from practices, contests, performances, and events with their club, group, or team, unless proper arrangements are made <u>prior</u> to leaving on the trip. Arrangements are as follows:

- Completion of the Athletic/Activity Travel Permission Request must be given to the principal/associate principal prior to each date/event. (No other notes, phone calls or emails will be accepted.)
 - A copy of the Athletic/Activity Travel Permission Form is on page 25 of this handbook. Please feel free to make copies if needed. The office staff is also happy to provide students and/or parents/guardians with a copy of the form.
- 2. Permission from the principal/associate principal must be given on the form.
- 3. Parents must pick up their child in the presence of the coach/director.

Categories of Participation

There are three categories for co-curricular participation: A, B and C. Each category is outlined below. The various sections identified under each category outline the specific expectations for each category. The sections are described in detail after the listing of categories.

Category A ~ Competes	Category B ~ Performs	Category C ~ Serves
Follows Sections, 1, 2, 3, 4	Follows Sections 1, 2, 4	Follows Section 1, 2
All Athletics	Forensics Future Problem Solvers Musical Science Olympiad Solo and Ensemble Jazz Ensemble	Student Council Yearbook

Category A competes and follows Sections 1, 2, 3 and 4.

Cross Country	Sept - Oct.	Boys and girls grades 6-8
Volleyball	Sept - Oct	Girls grades 7-8
Wrestling	Oct - Dec	Boys and girls grades 6-8
Basketball	Oct - Dec	Boys grades 7-8
Basketball	Jan - Mar	Girls grades 7-8
Track and Field	Apr - May	Boys and girls grades 7-8

Category B performs and follows Sections 1, 2 and 4

Jazz Band	All Year	Boys and girls grades 6-8
Future Problem Solvers	Winter/Spring	Boys and girls grades 6-8
Forensics	Winter/Spring	Boys and girls grades 6-8
Science Olympiad	Winter/Spring	Boys and girls grades 7-8
Solo and Ensemble	Winter/Spring	Boys and girls grades 7-8
Forensics	Winter/Spring	Boys and girls grades 6-8
Musical	Spring	Boys and girls grades 6-8

Category C serves and follows Sections 1 and 2

Student Council	All Year	Boys and girls grades 6-8
Yearbook	All Year	Boys and girls grades 6-8

Co-Curricular Expectations

Section 1 ~ Applies to all categories A, B and C School Behavior

- Student participants are expected to meet the expectations for school behavior described in the handbook and the Board of Education Policies.
- Students suspended out of school during a session or activity will be ineligible to participate in the practices, performances, competitions or activities during the period of suspension.
- Students must be in attendance the entire day in order to be eligible for any athletic competitions. Any student who arrives later than 8:15 is not eligible in any athletic competition that day.
- Participants are encouraged to do their best in the classroom, strive to get the highest grades possible, and display a service attitude in their conduct throughout the school and community.
- If a student misbehaves in a class or general school area, the student will make up time at the teacher's or principal's convenience (this may be before the school day, during lunch, or after school) before they may participate in co-curricular activities.
 Students failing to make this time up for a staff person will be considered for suspension from co-curricular activities.
- Students removed from a class or general school area for inappropriate behavior the day of an after school event may not be allowed to attend the event depending on the severity of the situation. A student may be denied involvement for serious inappropriate behavior at any time prior to an activity.
- Any student dropped from a co-curricular activity for disciplinary reasons is ineligible for any sport/activity during the current season, or may be ineligible for the entire school year.
- Any student who wishes to quit a school activity before the end of the activity season should, out of courtesy, notify the advisor/coach, as well as the main office.

Behavior at School Events

Attending co-curricular events at the middle school or high school is a privilege. Community members, parents/guardians, and students attend co-curricular events for fun and entertainment. Audience members need to be respectful of each other and of the event participants. Abiding by the following rules will help to ensure everyone has a safe, enjoyable time at the event. Appropriate behavior is expected for students and parents in the Mount Horeb Middle School and High School, and at all locations our students travel and visit. We expect our middle level students to set the standard for other grades and for visitors to follow these guidelines.

- Follow student rules for appropriate behavior.
- Follow all instructions for behavior that are posted or given.
- Be courteous and kind.
- Respect performers and other audience members.
- Respect the property where the event is held.
- Arrive at the event on time If you arrive late, do not disrupt when entering.
- If doors are closed to the event, wait until they are opened to enter, or wait until a break in the activities (Intermission, break between musical performances).
- Go to your seat when you enter, and remain in that seat until intermission.
- Sit only in the area designated for you (e.g. MS area at the HS football games).

- If you are a participant, you will be seated with your group/team prior to the activity.
 If you remain after your performance has concluded, you will remain seated with your group/team.
- Stay at the event or the activity during the action. Restroom breaks should be taken before entering or during intermission.
- Only performers should be in the performing area (basketball court, stage, orchestra pit). If you are an audience member, please stay in areas designated for observers.
- When you leave, do not go into any other areas of the building. Exit directly after the activity/event ends.
- Water and food being served at the event are the only items permitted.
- Food or drinks should be consumed in the designated areas. Dispose of all trash in the appropriate places.
- Support the performers in an appropriate way (e.g. clapping at concerts at appropriate times, cheering for good athletic performances).
- Leave immediately after if you are told to do so.
- Respect the supervisors and follow their directions.

Section 2 ~ Applies to All Categories A, B and C Attendance

- There are no practices held after 6:00 pm on Wednesday.
- Practice sessions may only begin or only be held with a qualified director/advisor/coach present.
- School facilities and/or equipment may only be used when a director/advisor/coach
 is present.
- Participants are expected to be at practice and performances on time unless there is a valid excuse for missing. Unexcused absences will be dealt with by the director/advisor/coach. Students who need academic help after school WILL NOT be penalized if they contact the director/adviser/coach before the practice and provide him/her/them with a pass from the instructor when arriving late to practice.
- Students must be in attendance the entire school day to participate in a contest or event scheduled for that day. Students are allowed to keep medical and/or dental appointments or funerals on a contest or event day. Written verification from the medical or dental office must be turned in to the attendance office before the student may participate. Parents' excuses are not an excuse that allows a student to participate. The principal or associate principal may approve individual exceptions prior to a student's absence. It is not an approved exception for students to leave school to retrieve forgotten uniforms, equipment or other items.

Section 3 Applies to Category A Eligibility Policies

1. Each participant must be issued a Mount Horeb Middle School Co-Curricular Handbook, and is required to view the Code of Conduct meeting on-line. Students, as well as their parents/guardians, must sign the Code of Conduct Form indicating

they understand the handbook and agree to abide by all rules governing their activities.

- 2. Students must have either a WIAA physical examination form completed by both a parent/legal guardian and a licensed physician or advanced nurse practitioner OR an alternative year form on file in the middle school office in order to be eligible for practice or contests. Students who are participating in athletics for the first or third year at Mount Horeb Middle School must complete the WIAA physical examination form. Students who turned in a WIAA physical examination form last year should complete the alternative year form.
- 3. The WIAA Physical examination or the Alternative year form, the signed Code of Conduct form, the signed Concussion Waiver and a Physical or Alternative Year form must all be properly completed and on file in the middle school office <u>prior</u> to a student participating in any practice or competition. These forms are good for the entire school year.
- 4. The \$25.00 athletic fee has been collected by the middle school office.
- 5. All restrictions from participation shall be effective from the date of the infraction.

Academic Eligibility

A student's top priority in school is to maintain the highest academic performance consistent with his/her ability. All students who are academically eligible have the opportunity to participate in athletic programs offered at Mount Horeb Middle School providing they meet all the necessary requirements.

- 1. An academic eligibility check system in the form of a Co-Curricular Weekly Grade Check Sheet (Appendix A) is applied each week throughout the athletic season.
- 2. Students receiving a D,D- or an F in a course and have at least 1 missing assignment in that class will receive the Co-Curricular Weekly Grade Check Sheet on Wednesday.

If a student receives a Co-Curricular Weekly Grade Check Sheet, s/he is responsible for:

- a. Speaking to the instructor of the class(es) identified on the form to determine what assignments are missing in that class.
- b. Completing and turning in any missing assignments for the courses identified on the form by Friday of that week.
- c. Obtaining the instructor's signature on the Co-Curricular Weekly Grade Check Sheet indicating that missing work has been satisfactorily completed and turned in.
- d. Turning the signed Co-Curricular Weekly Grade Check Sheet into the office by Friday at the end of the day.

- 3. If a student does not complete missing assignments in the courses identified on the Co-Curricular Weekly Grade Check Sheet, s/he will be academically ineligible to compete in athletic events the following week. Academically ineligible students may continue to practice for that week.
- 4. Parents are notified by the end of the day on Wednesday if their child has received a Co-Curricular Weekly Grade Check Sheet and also on Friday if their child has not turned a signed Co-Curricular Weekly Grade Check Sheet into the office.

Use of Alcohol, Tobacco Products, Controlled Substances, or Performance Enhancing Substances

Any student using or possessing alcohol, tobacco products or vaping materials, or using, buying, or selling illegal controlled substances, drugs/alcohol, and performance enhancing substances shall be suspended from participation in interscholastic athletics.

Any student, unsupervised by their parent or legal guardian, present where alcohol is being served to underage individuals, who does not leave in a reasonable amount of time (10-15 minutes), will be subject to the penalties stated under Co-Curricular Code violations.

This rule is in effect and enforced for twelve (12) months of the year.

First Violation:

Student is restricted from co-curricular competition for one (1) contest. Any remaining contests of the suspension not served shall be applied to the next activity in which the student participates. A student disciplined for the first violation is encouraged to practice with his/her group. However, he/she cannot dress in the uniform, travel with the group, or sit on the bench. The suspended student must follow all rules and requirements of the activity.

Student is also required to participate in a student assessment with a member of the middle school's Student Service Team and follow the assessment recommendations within 7 days of receiving written notification of the suspension. Refusal or failure to take the assessment or to follow its recommendations will result in the student having to serve a two (2) contest restriction.

Second Violation:

Student is restricted from co-curricular competition for 33% of the contest based on the regular season of that activity.

Student in violation for a second time completes an Alcohol, Drug and Other Drug Use (ATODA) assessment by an appropriate licensed agency/professional and follows its recommendations. Student in violation also meets with a member of the middle school's Student Service Team for the purpose of collaboration with the assessment agency and/or

with the recommended treatment provider. Student in violation completes the recommendations made by the ATODA assessment and provides written notice of compliance, with recommendations to the Student Services Team Member.

Failure to complete these steps will result in additional penalties. All costs associated with the assessment and treatment will be the responsibility of the student's parent/guardian.

Third Violation:

Student is restricted from co-curricular participation in Mount Horeb Middle School practices and contests for one full calendar year. There will be no carry over penalty from the middle school years to the high school years.

Note: Restriction from participation shall be effective from the date determined by the infraction.

Section 4 ~ Applies to Categories A and B Conduct Code

- Students participating in school activities shall at no time act in a manner detrimental to one's self or the image of Mount Horeb Middle School. Offenders shall be suspended from all co-curricular activities for 1-3 days and the next scheduled meet, match, game, event or contest following the student hearing. Students repeatedly reported for misconduct may receive further suspensions or may be expelled from one or all school activities. An appeals process consistent with district policy will be followed by either the student, parent or guardian.
- Students will make up time at the school's convenience (before school, during lunch or after school) for misbehavior in a class before they may participate in school activities. Students failing to make this time up will be considered for suspension from co-curricular activities.
- Students removed from a class for inappropriate behavior the day of an after school event may not be allowed to attend the event depending on the severity of the situation. A student may be denied involvement for serious inappropriate behavior at any time prior to an activity.
- Students absent due to illness for any part of a day scheduled for a school athletic
 activity cannot participate without permissions from the associate principal.
 Students with medical or dental appointments will need to provide a medical note
 from their provider to excuse their absence.
- The teacher of any student having academic difficulties should confer with the student's advisor/coach to ensure the best learning situation for the student. The satisfactory completion of classroom work is very important. Co-curricular activities are second to the completion of classroom work.

- A student who wishes to quit a school activity before the end of the activity should, out of courtesy, notify the advisor/coach, as well as the main office.
- For some activities, the coach/advisor may have necessary safety or health requirements that are unique to that activity.

Appeals Process Related to the Co-Curricular Code

The appeals process procedure for a student and his/her parents/guardians to follow in appealing decisions relating to eligibility is outlined below. It should be understood that students and parents/guardians will be expected to follow the appeals process steps in the event legal action should be initiated at some later date.

- 1. If a student or parent/guardian wishes to appeal, he/she may do so in writing to the Associate Principal within five (5) school days after being informed of the decision.
- 2. Upon receiving the written repeal, the Principal and/or the Associate Principal will meet with the student and the student's parents/guardians. If the student wishes to continue the appeal, the Principal and/or Associate Principal will schedule a meeting of the Code of Conduct Appeals Council to be held within three (3) school days. The student and parents will have the opportunity to present evidence or challenge evidence presented at this meeting.
- 3. The Code of Conduct Appeals Council will be comprised of:
 - One building or district level administrator
 - Two head coaches and one activity advisor
 - o One teacher not involved in co-curricular activities.
 - One of the above adults will be selected by the Principal to serve as the chairperson and not vote.
- 4. The Code of Conduct Appeals Council will limit its deliberations to the evidence presented at the meeting.
- 5. Anytime a member of the Code of Conduct Appeals Council experiences a conflict of interest, he/she is to remove him/herself from the deliberations of the council. No advisor/coach may pass judgment on a case involving his/her student athlete. No parent may pass judgment on a case involving his or her child, close relative, or a friend. No student may pass judgment on a case involving another student.
- 6. The Code of Conduct Appeals Council may take one of two actions:
 - Uphold the Administrator's decision; or
 - Overturn the Administrator's decision.
 Note: The Council may overturn a decision when they believe that the "technical requirements" of the code have not been followed. In determining this, the Council should consider whether or not the evidence against a student is reasonable, whether or not the student was afforded due process,

and whether or not the penalty was in accordance with this code. The intent of this paragraph is to limit the reasons for overturning the Administrator's decision to technical reasons rather than reasons which stem from personal disagreements with the Code itself.

- 7. The decision of the Code of Conduct Appeals Council will be final with no further appeals by the student nor any further disciplinary action by the Administrator that would affect a student's co-curricular participation.
- 8. All suspensions remain in effect during the appeals process. Any appeal dealing with academic eligibility will be handled according to School Board Policy #870 (appendix E), see III. D4.

Tips for Parents, Guardians and Supporters at Student Events (Taken from the National Alliance for Youth Sports)

- Remember that the performing area (field, court, stage) where practices and performances take place is like your child's classroom - Respect the classroom.
- Make only positive, encouraging comments to the participants and advisors, coaches and directors.
- Support participants from all schools.
- Remember that making mistakes is part of the learning process refrain from criticizing mistakes.
- Discuss concerns with the adult in charge, at a quiet time, in a quiet place, away from the participants, and in particular, away from your child.
- Respect the adults in charge (advisors, directors, coaches, officials, judges, referees, etc).
- Demonstrate interest in our child's chosen activity.
- Focus on fun and participation rather than on winning and losing.
- Always ask your child if he/she had fun! Ask specifically what was fun and what wasn't.
- Always ask your child what she/he learned about his/her performance during the activity.
- Control your emotions. Set a great example for others, particularly your child.
- Be proud of your child and of all the students involved.



MOUNT HOREB MIDDLE SCHOOL

Phone 608.437.7306 | Fax 608.437.7301 | Website mhasd.kl2.wi.us/ms Middle School Office | 900 East Garfield Street, Mount Horeb, WI 53572

Parent / Guardian, Student Code of Conduct Pledge

I, a co-curricular activities participant, assume full responsibility for all school property and equipment issued to me and promise to confine the use of that equipment to practices, games, meets, performances and events. I further agree to pay for any and all property or equipment that I lose, misplace or carelessly or intentionally damage.

I understand that "Co-curricular Activities" includes all student activities that take place outside of the regular school curriculum. This includes all athletics, non-curricular field trips such as ski and roller-skating trips, club/group activities such as forensics and student council, and any/all other student activities that take place outside of the regular school curriculum.

I have read this Code of Conduct. I understand the rules and the consequences for violating them. I agree to abide by all of the rules set forth in this Handbook.

Student's Name		
	print	signature
Date		

To Demonstrate My/Our Support, I/We Pledge to:

- 1. Be aware of our child's academic status, behavior, and social habits.
- 2. <u>Not cover up or provide alibis if rules are broken.</u> We will hold our child responsible and accountable for his/her actions and will inform one of the principals or the Activities Director if he/she violated the Activities Code. We will communicate our intentions to our son/daughter at the beginning of the season so he/she will be aware of what the consequences will be should a violation occur.

I, the parent or guardian of the above student, have read this Code of Conduct, and understand the rules and the consequences for violating them, and agree to support the rules set forth in this handbook. I give my child/ward permission to participate in co-curricular activities under these conditions.

Parent's/Guardian's _			
. –	Print	signature	
Date			

This pledge will be in effect for a 12 month period, including all of the individual activity seasons contained therein, from the date of signature. If you have any questions please contact either the Middle School Principal, Middle School Associate Principal, or Activities Director.

MOUNT HOREB MIDDLE SCHOOL



Phone 608.437.7306 | Fax 608.437.7301 | Website mhasd.kl2.wi.us/ms Middle School Office | 900 East Garfield Street, Mount Horeb, WI 53572

Concussion Awareness and Sudden Cardiac Arrest Form

As a parent and as an athlete it is important to recognize the signs, symptoms, and behaviors of concussions. By signing this form you are stating you understand the importance of recognizing and responding to the signs, symptoms and behaviors of a concussion or head injury, as well as the information regarding Sudden Cardiac Arrest and certify that you have read, understand, and agree to abide by all of the information contained in this sheet.

Parent Agreement for Spe	ort	
I	have read the Parent Concus	ssion and Head
Injury Information and the understand the common removed from practice ar I understand that it is my concussion or cardiac arr I understand that my child	e Sudden Cardiac Arrest Information and under signs, symptoms, and behaviors. I agree that and/or play if a concussion or cardiac arrest is a responsibility to seek medical treatment if a surest symptoms are reported to me. d cannot return to practice and/or play until p	erstand. I also my child must be suspected. uspected
	priate health care provider to his/her coach. consequences of my child returning to practic	ce and/or play too
Parent/Guardian Signatur	re	Date
 Athlete Agreement for Sp	port	
I	have read the Athlete Concu	ssion and Head
Injury Information and the	e Sudden Cardiac Arrest Information.	
	nce of reporting a suspected concussion or co /guardian and my coaches.	ardiac arrest
, ,	onsibility to seek medical treatment if a suspe	cted concussion is
is suspected. I understand	moved from practice and/or play if a concuss ad I must provide written clearance from an ap th before returning to practice and/or play	
I understand the possible my brain needs to heal.	consequences of returning to practice and/or	r play too soon, and
Athlete Signature		_ Date

Mr. Paul Christiansen, Middle School Principal | christiansenpaul@mounthorebschools.org | 608.437.7331 **Mrs. Catie Goninen,** Assistant Middle School Principal | goninencatie@mounthorbschools.org | 608.437.7332

Athlete Concussion and Head Injury Information

- 1. Before a student may participate in practice or competition: At the beginning of a season for youth athletic activity, the person operating the youth athletic activity shall distribute a concussion and head injury information sheet to each person who will be coaching that youth athletic activity unless the person returns the information sheet signed by the person, and, if he or she is under the age of 19, by his or her parent guardian.
- 2. An athletic coach, or official involved in a youth athletic activity, or health care provider shall remove a person from the youth athletic activity if the coach, official, or health care provider determines that the person exhibits signs, symptoms or behavior consistent with a concussion or head injury or the coach, official, or health care provider suspects the person has sustained a concussion or head injury.
- 3. A person who has been removed from a youth athletic activity may not participate in a youth athletic activity until he or she is evaluated by a health care provider and receives written clearance to participate in the activity from the health care provider.

Concussions Symptoms

Concussion Symptoms Visible to Others

Dazed or stunned appearance
Change in the level of consciousness or awareness
Confused by assignments
Forgets plays
Unsure of score, game, opponent
Clumsy
Answers more slowly than usual
Shows behavior changes
Loss of consciousness
Asks repetitive questions or memory concerns

Concussion Symptoms Felt by Athlete

Headache
Nausea
Dizzy or unsteady
Sensitive to light or noise
Feeling mentally foggy
Problems with concentration and memory
Confused
Slow

Injured athletes can exhibit many or just a few of the signs and/or symptoms of a concussion. However, if a player exhibits any signs or symptoms of a concussion, the responsibility is simple: "When in Doubt, Sit Them Out."

It is important to notify a parent or guardian when an athlete is thought to have a concussion. Any athlete with a concussion must be seen by an appropriate health care provider before returning to practice (including weight lifting) or competition.

Return to Play

Current recommendations are for a stepwise return to play program. In order to resume activity, the athlete must be symptom free and off any pain control or headache medications. The athlete should be carrying a full academic load without any significant accommodations. Finally, the athlete must have clearance from an appropriate health care provider.

The program described below is a guideline for returning concussed athletes when they are symptom free and off any pain control or headache medications. The athlete should be carrying a full academic load without any significant accommodations. Finally, the athlete must have clearance from an appropriate health care provider.

The program described below is a guideline for returning concussed athletes when they are symptom free. Athletes with multiple and athletes with prolonged symptoms often require a very different return to activity program and should be managed by a physician who has experience treating concussions.

StepWise Program

This program allows for one step per 24 hours. The program allows for a gradual increase in heart rate/physical exertion, coordination, and then allows contact. If symptoms return, the athlete should stop activity and notify his/her healthcare provider before progressing to the next level.

Step One: Approximately 15 minutes of light exercise to include stationary biking or jogging

Step Two: More strenuous running and sprinting in the gym or filed without equipment

Step Three: Begin non-contract drills in full uniform. May also resume weight lifting

Step Four: Full practice with contact

Step Five: Full game clearance

Wisconsin State Statute 118.293 Concussion and Head Injury

- (1) In this section:
- (a) "Credential" means a license or certificate of certification issued by this state.
- (am) "Health care provider" means a person to whom all of the following apply:
- 1. He or she holds a credential that authorizes the person to provide health care.
- **2.** He or she is trained and has experience in evaluating and managing pediatric concussions and head injuries.
- 3. He or she is practicing within the scope of his or her credential.
- (c) "Youth athletic activity" means an organized athletic activity in which the participants, a majority of whom are under 19 years of age, are engaged in an athletic game or competition against another team, club, or entity, or in practice or preparation for an organized athletic game or competition against another team, club, or entity. "Youth athletic activity" does not include a college or university activity or an activity that is incidental to a non-athletic program.
- (2) In consultation with the Wisconsin Interscholastic Athletic Association, the department shall develop guidelines and other information for the purpose of educating athletic coaches and pupil athletes and their parents or guardians about the nature and risk of concussion and head injury in youth athletic activities.
- (3)
- (a) At the beginning of a season for a youth athletic activity, the person operating the youth athletic activity shall distribute a concussion and head injury information sheet to each person who will be coaching that youth athletic activity and to each person who wishes to participate in that youth athletic activity. No person may participate in a youth athletic activity unless the person returns the information sheet signed by the person and, if he or she is under the age of 19, by his or her parent or guardian.
- (b)

- 1. Notwithstanding par. (a), a public or private school is not required to distribute an information sheet to a pupil enrolled in the school who wishes to participate in a youth athletic activity operated by the school during a school year, and a pupil enrolled in the school may participate in that youth athletic activity without returning an appropriately signed information sheet for that activity, if the pupil has returned an appropriately signed information sheet for another youth athletic activity operated by the school during the same school year.
- 2. Notwithstanding par. (a), a private club is not required to distribute an information sheet to a person who wishes to participate in a youth athletic activity operated by the private club, and a person may participate in that youth athletic activity without returning an appropriately signed information sheet for the activity, if the person has returned an appropriately signed information sheet to the club within the previous 365 days.
- (4)
- (a) An athletic coach, or official involved in a youth athletic activity, or health care provider shall remove a person from the youth athletic activity if the coach, official, or health care provider determines that the person exhibits signs, symptoms, or behavior consistent with a concussion or head injury or the coach, official, or health care provider suspects the person has sustained a concussion or head injury.
- **(b)** A person who has been removed from a youth athletic activity under par. (a) may not participate in a youth athletic activity until he or she is evaluated by a health care provider and receives a written clearance to participate in the activity from the health care provider.
- (5)
- (a) Any athletic coach, official involved in an athletic activity, or volunteer who fails to remove a person from a youth athletic activity under sub. (4) (a) is immune from civil liability for any injury resulting from that omission unless it constitutes gross negligence or willful or wanton misconduct.
- (b) Any volunteer who authorizes a person to participate in a youth athletic activity under sub. (4) (b) is immune from civil liability for any injury resulting from that act unless the act constitutes gross negligence or willful or wanton misconduct.
- **(6)** This section does not create any liability for, or a cause of action against, any person. **History:** 2011 a. 172; 2013 a. 93.

Sudden Cardiac Arrest Information

Wis. Stat. § 118.2935

Sudden cardiac arrest; youth athletic activities Sudden cardiac arrest (SCA), while rare, is the leading cause of death in young athletes while training or participating in sport competition. Even athletes who appear healthy and have a normal preparticipation screening may have underlying heart abnormalities that can be life-threatening. A family history of SCA at younger than age 50 or cardiomyopathy (heart muscle problem) places an athlete at greater risk. Athletes should inform the healthcare provider performing their physical examination about their family's heart history.

What is Sudden Cardiac Arrest?

Cardiac arrest is a condition in which the heart suddenly and unexpectedly stops beating. If this happens, blood stops flowing to the brain, lungs, and other vital organs.

Cardiac arrest usually causes death if it is not treated with cardiopulmonary resuscitation (CPR) and an automated external defibrillator (AED) within minutes.

Cardiac arrest is not the same as a heart attack. A heart attack occurs if blood flow to part of the heart muscle is blocked. During a heart attack, the heart usually does not suddenly stop beating. In cardiac arrest the heart stops beating.

What warning signs during exercise should athletes/coaches/parents watch out for?

- Fainting/blackouts (especially during exercise)
- Dizziness or Unusual fatigue/weakness
- Chest pain/tightness with exertion o Shortness of breath
- Nausea/vomiting
- Palpitations (heart is beating unusually fast or skipping beats)

Stop activity/exercise immediately if you have any of the warning signs of Sudden Cardiac Arrest.

Speak up and tell a coach and parent/guardian if you notice problems when exercising. If an athlete has any warning signs of SCA while exercising, they should **seek medical** attention and evaluation from a healthcare provider before returning to a game or practice.

The risk associated with continuing to participate in a youth activity after experiencing warning signs is that the athlete may experience SCA, which usually causes death if not treated with CPR and an AED within minutes.

What are ways to screen for Sudden Cardiac Arrest (SCA)?

<u>WIAA Pre-Participation Physical Evaluation</u> – the Medical History form includes important heart related questions and is required every other year. Additional screening using an electrocardiogram and/or an echocardiogram may be done if there are concerns in the history or physical examination but is not required (by WIAA). Parents/guardians/athletes should discuss the need for specific cardiac testing with the medical provider performing the review of family history and physical evaluation or after experiencing warning signs of sudden cardiac arrest while exercising. The cost of the pre-participation physical and any follow up examinations or recommended testing including an electrocardiogram is the responsibility of the athlete and their parents/guardians. **Not all cases or causes of SCA in young athletes are detected in the history, examination, or with testing.**

What is an electrocardiogram, its risks, and benefits?

An electrocardiogram (ECG) is one of the simplest and fastest tests used to evaluate the heart. Electrodes (small, plastic patches that stick to the skin) are placed at specific spots on the chest, arms, and legs. The electrodes are connected to an ECG machine by wires. The electrical activity of the heart is then measured, interpreted, and printed out. No

electricity is sent into the body. Risks associated with having an ECG are minimal and rare. The benefits include that it is an easy procedure to do, can be performed in many health care offices and it may detect heart conditions in children with no symptoms. **ECGs are good at detecting certain heart conditions that may increase risk for SCA but may not detect all such conditions.** If not performed correctly the information is not valid and may lead to more (unnecessary) testing and further examinations. ECGs should be interpreted by experts in reading ECGs in children (i.e., pediatric cardiologists). For more information, view the Johns Hopkins Medicine - Electrocardiogram website.

How may a student athlete and parent/guardian request the administration of an electrocardiogram and a comprehensive physical examination? Athletes participating in WIAA sports are required to have a physical examination and review of family history every other year. Other youth sports have similar requirements. Although the cost of these medical examinations is the responsibility of the athlete's family many school districts can assist students to find low cost or no cost ways to obtain these examinations. Athletes should contact their school athletic director if they need assistance in getting an examination. If an athlete has risk factors, family history of heart disease, or has had warning signs associated with sudden cardiac arrest while exercising, they should tell the medical provider performing the history and physical examination and discuss the possible need for an electrocardiogram.

MOUNT HOREB MIDDLE SCHOOL



Catie Goninen - Assistant Principal

900 East Garfield Street Mount Horeb, WI 53572 (608) 437-7332 FAX: (608) 437-7301 goninencatie@mounthorebschools.org

A Community of Learners

Co-Curricular Weekly Grade Check Sheet

Name

House

In order to regain your eligibility to play in games, you must complete <u>all missing work</u> to a <u>passing level</u> in the class(s) listed below. You need to:

- 1. Take this form to the teachers of the class(s) listed below to confirm your missing work.
- 2. After submitting all missing assignments for the class, have your teacher sign and date this form.
- 3. Turn in signed form by the end of the day on Friday to be eligible to play the following week.
- 4. Mrs. Goninen or Mr. Christiansen will check over the completed sheet.
- 5. Mrs. Goninen or Mr. Christiansen will inform your coach that you have become eligible.

Class	Missing Work Completed	
Teacher Signature		Date
	Missing Work Completed	
Teacher Signature		Date
	Missing Work Completed	
		Date
 Class	Missing Work Completed	
	Missing Work Completed	
Teacher Signature		Date
	Missing Work Completed	
Teacher Signature		Date
Class	Missing Work Completed	
Teacher Signature		Date

Mount Horeb Middle School Co-Curricular Activity Emergency Consent to Treat

Student's Name:	_ Grade:	Birthdate:
Parent's/Guardian's		
Name:		
Phone number where Parent/Guardian can be reached in case of an em	nergency:	
Work: Home:		
Cell:		
Emergency Contact:		
Phone:		
(Other than parent/guardian)		
MEDICAL HISTORY		
Family Physician:		
Phone:		
Preferred Hospital:		
Do you have or have you ever had any of the following:		
1. Asthma: No Yes Carries an inhaler?		
2. Allergies: No Yes If Yes, to what?		
Carries Epi-Pen? No Y	es	
Type of Reaction:		
*If there's an Individual Health F	lan (I.H.P.), pl	ease attach.
Are there any other issues we should be made aware of: No Ye		
If Yes, please	:5	
explain:		
INSURANCE - One of the following MUST be checked to participate.		
We are interested in school insurance coverage. Please send us	a Student As	STILUDO
Services Insurance application.	a otaacht As	Surance
OR		
We feel we have adequate insurance protection for our son/dation in co-curricular activities.	ughter while	participating
Name of Private Insurance Carrier (under which your son/daughter is	covered):	
Policy Number:		

Activity Permit (To be signed by Parent/Guardian)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 and the regulations promulgated thereunder (collectively known as "HIPPA"), I authorize health care providers of the student named above, including emergency medical personnel and other similarly trained professionals that may be attending a co-curricular activity, to disclose/exchange essential medical information regarding the injury and treatment of this student to appropriate school district personnel such as, but not limited to: Principal, Assistant Principal, Advisor, Administrative Assistant, and/or other professional health care providers, for the purposes of treatment, emergency care and injury record-keeping.

Signature of Parent/Guardian:	
Date:	

Athletic/Activity Travel Permission Request

MOUNT HOREB MIDDLE SCHOOL

Phone 608.437.7306 | Fax 608.437.7301 | Website mhasd.k12.wi.us/ms

Middle School Office 900 E	ast Garfield Street, Mount Horeb, WI 53572
This is to certify that to ride home	has my permission
(student's no	ıme)
from the, o	
(event)	(location)
date of	·
((date)
	an of the above named student and that I am y. The reason for not riding the team bus is:
	chool policy requires students to ride to and from all is policy releases the Mount Horeb School District
(signature of parent/augrdian)	 (sianature of coach/advisor)

(printed name of parent/guardian)	(printed name of coach/advisor)
(phone number of parent/guardian)	(signature of administrator)

Mr. Paul Christiansen, Middle School Principal | christiansenpaul@mounthorebschools.org | 608.437.7331 Mrs. Catie Goninen, Assistant Middle School Principal | goninencatie@mounthorebschools.org | 608.437.7332